69663-7

COA No. 69663-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 1
C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D. ARGUMENT 4
THE BLOOD TESTING RESULTS WERE ILLEGALLY OBTAINED, REQUIRING SUPPRESSION AND REVERSAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S DUI CONVICTION 4
The trial court declined to suppress the drug testing results. 4
The testing of extracted blood constitutes a search and an intrusion into private affairs, requiring authorization by a warrant, supported by probable cause.
3. The warrant fails to grant any authority to test Mr. Martines' blood
There was no probable cause for drug testing of Mr. Martines' blood for the presence of drugs
5. Reversal of DUI conviction
6. Reversal is independently required for the failure to file written CrR 3.6 Findings
F CONCLUSION 15

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

State v. Baity, 140 Wn.2d 1, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000) 12
State v. Chambers, 88 Wn. App. 640, 945 P.2d 1172 (1997) 8,9
State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 906 P.2d 925 (1995) 10
State v. Olivas, 122 Wn.2d 73, 856 P.2d 1076 (1993)
State v. Curran, 116 Wn.2d 174, 804 P.2d 558 (1991)
State v. Dodson, 110 Wn. App. 112, 39 P.3d 324 (2002) 7
State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 501, 828 P.2d 1150 (1992) 5
<u>State v. Emery</u> , 161 Wn. App. 172, 253 P.3d 413 (2011), <u>aff'd</u> , 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
State v. Garcia, 63 Wn. App. 868, 824 P.2d 1220 (1992) 12
State v. Gronlund, 356 N.W.2d 144 (N.D.1984)
State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985) 13
State v. Huft, 106 Wn.2d 206, 720 P.2d 838 (1986) 10
State v. Kirkpatrick, 160 Wn.2d 873, 161 P.3d 990 (2007) 6
State v. Maddox, 116 Wn. App. 796, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003) 7
State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004) 11
State v. Martin, 69 Wn. App. 686, 849 P.2d 1289 (1993) 13
State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 834 P.2d 611 (1992) 8,9
State v. Riley, 69 Wn. App. 349, 848 P.2d 1288 (1993) 14
Robinson v. Seattle, 102 Wn. App. 795, 10 P.3d 452 (2000) 6

State v. Smith, 68 Wn. App. 454, 610 P.2d 357 (1980)
State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 329, 610 P.2d 869 (1980)
State v. Smith, 165 Wn. App. 296, 266 P.3d 250 (2011)
State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 977 P.2d 582 (1999) 10,11
<u>State v. Trasvina</u> , 16 Wn. App. 519, 557 P.2d 368 (1976), <u>review</u> denied, 88 Wn.2d 1017 (1977)
State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 59 P.3d 58 (2002)
<u>State v. Wright</u> , 61 Wn. App. 819, 810 P.2d 935, <u>review denied</u> , 117 Wn.2d 1012 (1991)
UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT CASES
<u>Andresen v. Maryland</u> , 427 U.S. 463, 96 S.Ct. 2737, 49 L.Ed.2d 627 (1976)
<u>Chapman v. California</u> , 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)
Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 2038, 29 L.Ed.2d 564, reh'g denied, 404 U.S. 874, 92 S.Ct. 26, 30 L.Ed.2d 120 (1971)
<u>Ferguson v. City of Charleston</u> , 532 U.S. 67, 121 S.Ct. 1281, 149 L.Ed. 2d 205 (2001)
<u>Mapp v. Ohio</u> , 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961)
Marron v. United States, 275 U.S. 192, 48 S.Ct. 74, 72 L.Ed. 231 (1927)
<u>Segura v. United States</u> , 468 U.S. 796, 104 S.Ct. 3380, 82 L.Ed.2d 599, 615 (1984)
Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639 (1989)

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In Jose Martines' trial on a charge of Felony Driving Under the Influence (Felony DUI) based on alcohol and drug intoxication, the trial court erred in denying Mr. Martines' motion to suppress the results of drug testing conducted on Mr. Martines' blood.
- The trial court committed manifest constitutional error in admitting the drug testing evidence where the warrant failed to authorize drug testing.
- 3. The trial court failed to meet the requirement of filing written CrR 3.6 Findings of Fact, where the prosecutor as prevailing party neglected to draft proposed findings or present them to the court following the hearing, as required by the Rule.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the unwarranted and unauthorized testing of Mr. Martines' blood was a search under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and an intrusion into Mr. Martines' private affairs under the Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Mr. Martines' motion to suppress the results of the drug testing conducted on his blood, where the issuing court did not particularly authorize the testing of his blood for drugs based on a required determination of

probable cause.

- Whether the trial court committed manifest constitutional error in admitting the drug testing evidence where the warrant failed to authorize drug testing.
- 4. Whether the failure to file written CrR 3.6 Findings of Fact independently requires reversal, where the trial court did not issue any detailed oral ruling on the question of the existence of facts constituting probable cause for the drug testing.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jose Martines was charged with Felony DUI pursuant to RCW 46.61.502(6) and RCW 46.61.522(1)(b). CP 1, 22.

According to witnesses, the defendant's Toyota 4-Runner was merging onto State Route 167 when it "clipped" another vehicle that it attempted to pass at high speed. The Toyota then swerved and flipped over. 11/6/12RP at 11, 27, 96; 11/8/12RP at 3. The other vehicle pulled over to the side of the highway, whereupon the occupants observed Mr. Martines crawl out from the driver's side of the Toyota, and saw a female emerge from the front passenger area. 11/6/12RP at 23-24, 33-34. An off-duty Tukwila police detective, Daniel Lindstrom, also stopped to assist, and he observed Mr. Martines remove the remains of a 6-pack of beer from

the Toyota and toss it into the bushes. 11/6/12RP at 60-67, 119-20.

Trooper Dennis Tardiff responded to the scene, and arrested Mr. Martines for DUI after smelling the odor of alcohol on his breath, and observing him stumble as if he had been drinking alcohol. 11/6/12RP at 111, 116-17, 139; see also 11/6/12RP at 69 (observations of alcohol intoxication by off-duty detective Lindstrom, communicated to Tardiff). Trooper Tardiff then obtained a warrant for extraction of Mr. Martines' blood, which was drawn at Valley Medical Center. The blood was subsequently tested for the presence of alcohol and drugs. 11/6/12RP at 129-33; 11/8/12RP at 43; Supp. CP ____; Sub #69 (warrant and affidavit) (Appendix A).

According to the Washington State Patrol toxicologist at trial, Mr. Martines' blood contained an alcohol percentage that equated to a .121 BAC value within an hour after the incident. 11/8/12RP at 43-47, 57-58. Mr. Martines' blood also contained Diazepam (Valium) in an amount of 0.05 milligrams per liter. 11/8/12RP at 45-46. The toxicologist testified that both the alcohol and the Diazepam can affect driving ability. 11/8/12RP at 45-55, 58-59.

The jury rejected Mr. Martines' contention that he had not been the person driving the Toyota, and found him guilty pursuant

to the jury instructions setting forth two different statutory alternatives for the crime under RCW 46.61.502(1):

(a) driving while under the influence of or affected by "intoxicating liquor or a drug," or(b) driving while under the "combined influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor and a drug."

CP 45 (Jury Instr. no. 8 ("to-convict" instruction); <u>see</u> RCW 46.61.502. Following the verdict, Mr. Martines was given a standard range term. CP 73-81. He appeals. CP 83-93.

D. ARGUMENT

THE BLOOD TESTING RESULTS WERE ILLEGALLY OBTAINED, REQUIRING SUPPRESSION AND REVERSAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S DUI CONVICTION.

1. The trial court declined to suppress the drug testing

results. Mr. Martines argued that the search warrant was defective because of the absence of any probable cause for drug testing. CP 7-12; 11/5/12RP at 30-55; Appendix A (search warrant); Appendix B (warrant affidavit). The prosecutor urged the court that the specific question presented was whether constitutional probable cause had been established in the warrant. 11/5/12RP at 40. The trial court ruled that probable cause for alcohol testing of blood also necessarily establishes probable cause to test blood for drugs,

including under the implied consent statute's incorporation of the probable cause standard.¹ 11/5/12RP at 54-55.

2. The testing of extracted blood constitutes a search and an intrusion into private affairs, requiring authorization by a warrant, supported by probable cause. The collection and the testing of biological samples such as blood from an individual constitute a search for purposes of the Fourth Amendment.

Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67, 76, 121 S.Ct. 1281, 149 L.Ed. 2d 205 (2001); Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives'

Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 103 L.Ed.2d 639 (1989); State v. Olivas, 122 Wn.2d 73, 83-84, 856 P.2d 1076 (1993); State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 501, 507, 828 P.2d 1150 (1992). Such actions also implicate the privacy interests protected by Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Curran, 116 Wn.2d 174, 184, 804 P.2d 558 (1991).

Under both the federal and state constitutions, the collection and subsequent analysis of biological evidence from a person is not

¹ Washington's implied consent statute, RCW 46.20.308, codifies the circumstances that allow for a blood drug test. An officer who has reasonable grounds to believe that an arrested driver is under the influence of a drug can request that driver to submit to a blood test administered by a qualified person. RCW 46.20.308(2). "'Reasonable grounds,' when used in the context of a law enforcement officer's decision to make an arrest, means probable cause." RCW 46.04.455; see State v. Dunivin, 65 Wn. App. 501, 507, 828 P.2d 1150 (1992).

a single search, but rather, are two separate invasions of privacy.

The Supreme Court has said:

[I]it is obvious that this physical intrusion, penetrating beneath the skin, infringes an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. The ensuing chemical analysis of the sample to obtain physiological data is a further invasion of the tested employee's privacy interests.

Skinner, 489 U.S. at 617 (Internal citations omitted); see also Robinson v. Seattle, 102 Wn. App. 795, 822 n.105, 10 P.3d 452 (2000).

3. The warrant fails to grant any authority to test Mr. Martines' blood.² A search warrant must provide authority for the search or intrusion conducted by law enforcement. The Fourth Amendment establishes the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures, and further, requires that no warrants may

² Below, Mr. Martines raised the question of the legality of the drug testing as a search requiring authority of law, primarily arguing that Trooper Tardiff, the warrant affiant, had not set forth facts establishing a basis for drug testing of Mr. Martines' blood, as opposed to alcohol testing. CP 7-12 (CrR 3.6 motion to suppress). However, Mr. Martines is also challenging the question of the authority granted by the search warrant, for the first time on appeal, under RAP 2.5(a)(3). In this case, there is no dispute that the direct fruit of a law enforcement search not authorized by law is constitutional error. Further, where the question is the constitutional adequacy of the written affidavit and the authority of the warrant document, an alleged error is "manifest" if there is a sufficient and complete record for this Court to review and determine the presence or absence of the error assigned. See State v. Kirkpatrick, 160 Wn.2d 873, 880–81, 161 P.3d 990 (2007). Such record is present in this case.

issue, except upon probable cause. <u>See U.S. Const. amend. 4.</u>
Similarly, article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution requires that a trial court may issue a search warrant only based on a determination of probable cause. <u>State v. Vickers</u>, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002).

In addition, the Fourth Amendment provides that search warrants must particularly describe "the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized." U.S. Const. amend. 4. Article I, section 7 also requires that a search warrant describe with particularity the thing to be seized. State v. Dodson, 110 Wn. App. 112, 119-20, 39 P.3d 324 (2002); State v. Wright, 61 Wn. App. 819, 824 n. 8, 810 P.2d 935, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1012 (1991). This requirement is an inextricable aspect of probable cause. State v. Maddox, 116 Wn. App. 796, 805, 67 P.3d 1135 (2003).

The purposes of the search warrant particularity requirement are the prevention of general searches and warrants issued on loose, vague, or doubtful bases. 2 W. LaFave, <u>Search and Seizure</u> § 4.6(a), at 234–36 (2d ed. 1987) (citing <u>Marron v. United States</u>, 275 U.S. 192, 48 S.Ct. 74, 72 L.Ed. 231 (1927)). Indeed, the prevention of general searches under which anything can be searched for was "the specific evil . . . abhorred by the colonists" at

the time of the framing of the federal constitution. <u>Coolidge v. New Hampshire</u>, 403 U.S. 443, 467, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 2038, 29 L.Ed.2d 564, <u>reh'g denied</u>, 404 U.S. 874, 92 S.Ct. 26, 30 L.Ed.2d 120 (1971).

In this case, the search warrant document directs that blood may be taken from Mr. Martines, but fails to authorize any blood testing. Appendix A (search warrant). Review of the warrant is de novo. State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 549, 834 P.2d 611 (1992). The constitutional requirements for a valid search warrant authorizing the intrusion into privacy are met if the warrant describes the thing to be seized with reasonable specificity under the circumstances. State v. Chambers, 88 Wn. App. 640, 643, 945 P.2d 1172 (1997) (citing Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 546-47, 834 P.2d 611).

Here, the two-page search warrant states that there is probable cause for the crime of Driving Under the Influence, and authorizes the officer to, with the assistance of an appropriate medical practitioner, "extract a sample of blood . . . from the person of Martines, Jose Figueroa". Appendix A. Other than directing the safe-keeping of the blood samples, the warrant does not authorize

or address any post-extraction law enforcement intrusion or conduct. Appendix A.

The form search warrant document does incorporate the sworn complaint, referring to the search warrant affidavit which references alcohol and drug testing. Appendix A. And it is also true that the warrant must be evaluated in a commonsense, practical manner, rather than in a hypertechnical sense.

Chambers, 88 Wn. App. at 643 (citing Perrone, 119 W .2d at 549). However, the warrant in this case does not establish authority for testing, including drug testing. As the United States Supreme Court has stated,

[T]he problem [posed by the general warrant] is not that of intrusion per se, but of a general, exploratory rummaging in a person's belongings. . . . [The Fourth Amendment addresses the problem] by requiring a 'particular description' of the things to be seized."

Andresen v. Maryland, 427 U.S. 463, 480, 96 S.Ct. 2737, 2748, 49 L.Ed.2d 627 (1976) (quoting Coolidge, at 467). In addition, the particularity requirement eliminates the danger of unlimited discretion in the executing officer's determination of what to search for. United States v. Blakeney, 942 F.2d 1001, 1026 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 1035, 112 S.Ct. 881, 116 L.Ed.2d 785

(1992); State v. Gronlund, 356 N.W.2d 144, 146 (N.D.1984)

(particularity requirement eliminates chances that executing officer will exceed the permissible scope of the search).

Thus, under a proper warrant, "[a]s to what is to be taken, nothing [must be] left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant." Marron, 275 U.S. at 196, 48 S.Ct. at 76; State v.

Trasvina, 16 Wn. App. 519, 522, 557 P.2d 368 (1976), review denied, 88 Wn.2d 1017 (1977); see also 2 W. LaFave § 4.6(a), at 234. Here, the 2-page search warrant authorizes only the extraction of blood. Where a search warrant affidavit fails to authorize an evidentiary search on the basis of probable cause the evidence obtained as a result should be suppressed. See generally State v. Huft, 106 Wn.2d 206, 720 P.2d 838 (1986). Absent the admission of any blood testing results, the evidence of DUI is insufficient, and the constitutional error in admitting the testing results is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

4. There was no probable cause for drug testing of Mr.

Martines' blood for the presence of drugs. A warrant "may issue only upon a determination of probable cause." State v. Thein, 138

Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999) (citing State v. Cole, 128

Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995)). In order to pass

constitutional muster under this standard, an "application for a warrant must state the underlying facts and circumstances on which it is based in order to facilitate a detached and independent evaluation of the evidence by the issuing magistrate." Thein, 138 Wn.2d at 140 (citing State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 329, 352, 610 P.2d 869 (1980)). Probable cause exists where the application sets forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is involved in criminal activity, and crucially, that evidence of that criminal activity can be found by the search. State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 505, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004).

Here, Trooper Tardiff's search warrant affidavit fails to set forth facts indicating, much less establishing a probability of cause, that Mr. Martines was driving under the influence of drugs, and therefore does not establish probable cause for a search for drugs in Mr. Martines' blood. In the warrant application, the affiant, Officer Tardiff, states that he is trained in "DUI detection." The affiant relates his investigation at the crash scene on SR 167, including his observations of "a strong odor of alcohol" on the defendant, Mr. Martines' physical appearance, and the defendant's

conduct of tossing beer into the bushes. Appendix B (search warrant affidavit).

Facts standing alone that would not support probable cause can do so when viewed together with other facts. State v. Garcia, 63 Wn. App. 868, 875, 824 P.2d 1220 (1992). However in this case, notably, although the affiant indicates he was a Drug Recognition Expert, he stated no additional facts, nor indeed any basis of belief that Mr. Martines' was affected by a drug. There is no basis for concluding that drugs were involved where the expert in drug intoxication does not even so state himself. See State v. Baity, 140 Wn.2d 1, 18, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000) (Drug Recognition Expert ("DRE") testimony may be admissible under ER 702 where it is helpful to the jury).

The trial court erred in concluding that the existence of probable cause to test blood for alcohol <u>per se</u> establishes probable cause to test for the presence of drugs. <u>See</u> 11/5/12RP at 54-55.

There were no facts in the search warrant affidavit supporting any suspicion of drug intoxication and, absent probable cause, the drug testing results were therefore improperly admitted at trial. U.S.

Const. amend. 4; Const. art. 1, § 7.

5. Reversal of DUI conviction. Evidence obtained illegally must be suppressed. Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 81 S.Ct. 1684, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081 (1961); see also Segura v. United States, 468 U.S. 796, 104 S.Ct. 3380, 82 L.Ed.2d 599, 615 (1984). Admission of such material as trial evidence is constitutional error, and as such it is presumed prejudicial, requiring reversal unless the State can prove, beyond any reasonable doubt, that the admission of the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); State v. Smith, 165 Wn. App. 296, 316, 266 P.3d 250 (2011) (citing State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985)).

In the present case, the illegally-obtained drug testing results were the only evidence of Mr. Martines' being under the influence of the identified drug of Diazepam, and reversal is required where the defendant was convicted of an alternative means DUI crime by general, rather than special verdict specifying the means relied upon. See generally State v. Martin, 69 Wn. App. 686, 688-89, 849 P.2d 1289 (1993) (error in DUI "to-convict" instruction required reversal where substantial evidence must support both alternative means charged).

6. Reversal is independently required for the failure to file written CrR 3.6 Findings. The prosecutor did not submit written findings of fact and conclusions of law to the trial court. CrR 3.6 requires the entry of written findings following a suppression hearing, which must set forth the disputed and undisputed facts, the court's findings as to the latter, and the court's legal conclusions. CrR 3.6(b).

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