69663-7

69663-7

NO. 69663-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOSE MARTINES,

Appellant.

2010 AUG 27 PM 3:10  
COURT OF APPEALS  
STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE MARIANE C. SPEARMAN

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

ERIN H. BECKER  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 296-9650

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

of warrants on loose, vague, or doubtful bases of fact. State v. Perrone, 119 Wn.2d 538, 545, 834 P.2d 611 (1992).

Here, Trooper Tardiff seized a sample of Martines's blood. 2RP 129-32. The taking of a blood sample constitutes a search and seizure for purposes of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 7. State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525, 534, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993); State v. Judge, 100 Wn.2d 706, 711, 675 P.2d 219 (1984). However, the trooper obtained a search warrant authorizing his seizure of Martines's blood sample. CP 94-103; Ex. 20. Further, there is no dispute that the search warrant was supported by probable cause that Martines was driving under the influence of alcohol, and that evidence of that crime could be found in Martines's blood. CP 95-101; Ex. 20. Instead, Martines contends that the results of the blood testing must be suppressed because the affidavit did not contain probable cause to believe that Martines's blood contained drugs in addition to alcohol, and because the search warrant did not authorize the testing of his blood at all. But no such specific probable cause or authorization was necessary.

Martines cites no cases for the proposition that a search warrant is needed not only to search for and seize a suspect's property, but also to examine that property once seized. There appear to be no Washington

cases that support his argument. Instead, the weight of authority—both in Washington and across the country—is to the contrary.

Looking first at Washington cases, in State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003), police took a defendant's shoes and forensically examined them by comparing their tread to shoeprints left at the scene of a rape. The shoes had been seized from the defendant when he was arrested for an unrelated crime, and had been inventoried and stored in the jail's property room; the police removed them from the jail four days later. The Supreme Court upheld the denial of Cheatam's motion to suppress the shoe evidence on the grounds that, once the shoes had been lawfully taken from him, his expectation of privacy in the shoes was so reduced that no protectable interest remained under either the federal or state constitution. Id. at 634-44. Applying Cheatam, the Supreme Court in State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), concluded that once a suspect's property is lawfully in the State's custody or control—in that case, through a court order for a blood sample—the State can perform forensic tests upon it and use the resulting information to further even an unrelated criminal investigation without running afoul of either constitution. Id. at 820-29.

Here, Trooper Tardiff had lawful custody of Martines's blood; he obtained it pursuant to a judicially authorized search warrant based upon



probable cause. Under Cheatam and Gregory, Martines no longer had a constitutionally protectable privacy interest in his blood. Accordingly, subjecting it to further examination—to support a prosecution for driving under the influence of alcohol or driving under the influence of drugs—did not violate Martines’s rights under either the Fourth Amendment or Article I, section 7.

Similarly, in State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d 354, 158 P.3d 27 (2007), the Supreme Court determined that Athan had no privacy interest in saliva that he used to lick and seal an envelope that he then mailed (unwittingly) to the police. That saliva was then used to develop a DNA profile linking Athan to a murder. In concluding that he had no privacy interest in saliva that he voluntarily relinquished, the Court analogized the ruse used to obtain the saliva sample from Athan to officers surreptitiously following a suspect to collect spit from a sidewalk or a cigarette butt in an ashtray, and then analyzing it for DNA, which the Court viewed as unquestionably constitutional. Id. at 374, 367. Although Martines’s case is plainly different, in that the blood sample was taken from him forcibly through the use of a search warrant, the analysis in Athan makes clear that the examination of bodily fluid alone does not constitute a search that must be supported by either a warrant or probable cause. Otherwise, the police would have needed a warrant to analyze Athan’s saliva, spit on the street,

or any other biological substance casually or unintentionally discarded by a suspect. Rather, it is the obtaining of the biological sample that is the subject of constitutional scrutiny. Id. at 367. Here, the police constitutionally obtained Martines's blood with a search warrant. No additional court authorization was needed in order to examine the blood forensically.

Finally, in State v. Grenning, 142 Wn. App. 518, 174 P.3d 706 (2008), aff'd, 169 Wn.2d 47 (2010), the Court of Appeals examined the question of whether law enforcement could examine the defendant's computer, seized pursuant to a valid search warrant, outside the ten-day period in which the warrant was to be executed. In concluding that such an examination was proper, the Grenning court stated that "it is generally understood that a lawful seizure of apparent evidence of a crime using a valid search warrant includes a right to test or examine the seized materials to ascertain their evidentiary value." Id. at 532 (citing 2 WAYNE R. LAFAYE, SEARCH AND SEIZURE § 4.10(e), at 771 (4th ed. 2004)). That is exactly what occurred here. Martines was searched and his blood was seized pursuant to a valid search warrant. The blood was later further examined to determine its evidentiary value, if any. No warrant to conduct this examination was required.

Cheatam, Gregory, Athan, and Grenning are consistent with cases from across the country that maintain that no court authorization is required to examine evidence that is lawfully in police custody. For instance, in State v. Petrone, 468 N.W.2d 676 (Wisc. 1991), overruled on other grounds by State v. Greve, 468 N.W.2d 676 (Wisc. 1991), the Wisconsin Supreme Court analyzed a defendant’s claim that a search warrant was needed for police to develop film that was lawfully seized pursuant to a search warrant. In rejecting Petrone’s claim, the court held that a “search warrant does not limit officers to naked-eye inspections of objects lawfully seized.” Id. at 681. Instead, law enforcement could develop the film as a lawful method of examination, just as blood stains could be subjected to laboratory analysis, or a magnifying glass could be used to enlarge documents or photographs for more detailed review. Id.

In United States v. Snyder, 852 F.2d 471 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988), the Ninth Circuit confronted an argument nearly identical to the one Martines raises here. In rejecting Snyder’s claim that a warrant was needed in order to test the alcohol content of his blood (which was lawfully seized pursuant to exigent circumstances, as authorized by Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S. Ct. 1826, 16 L. Ed. 2d 908 (1966)), the court explained that Schmerber “viewed the right to seize the blood as encompassing the right to conduct a blood-alcohol test at some later time.” Snyder, 852 F.2d

at 474. Thus, so long as a blood sample is lawfully obtained, “the subsequent performance of a blood-alcohol test has no independent significance for fourth amendment purposes.” Id.

In State v. Wallace, 910 P.2d 695 (Haw. 1996), the Hawaii Supreme Court addressed a defendant’s argument that the police needed a warrant in order to test cocaine that they had seized during the execution of a search warrant. The court rejected this claim, reasoning that the chemical testing of evidence already within police custody does not invade any legitimate expectation of privacy. Id. at 718-19.

Numerous additional examples exist of the general proposition that “a lawful seizure of apparent evidence of crime pursuant to a search warrant carries with it a right to test or otherwise examine the seized materials to ascertain or enhance their evidentiary value.” 2 LAFAVE § 4.10(e) at 988-93 & nn.231-34 (citing cases); see also Josh Goldfoot, The Physical Computer and the Fourth Amendment, 16 Berkeley J. Crim. L. 112, 149-54 & nn.153-72 (2011) (explaining that “so long as . . . objects come into law enforcement’s possession lawfully, courts do not require additional Fourth Amendment justification before police subject [those objects] to examination,” and citing cases relating to examination of blood, film, clothing, cars, carpet fibers, purses, paper, videotapes, and the defendant’s hands). “Indeed, it is difficult to perceive what is

unreasonable about the police's examining and holding as evidence those personal effects of the accused that they already have in their lawful custody as the result of a lawful arrest." United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800, 803-06, 94 S. Ct. 1234, 39 L. Ed. 2d 771 (1974).

This line of cases, remarkable in its uniformity, is plainly correct. A forensic examination is not the same as a search. A search is an infringement of a reasonable expectation of privacy, or an intrusion into private affairs. Young, 123 Wn.2d at 189; Rose, 128 Wn.2d at 400. But once the police already are in possession of a suspect's blood, the infringement or intrusion has already occurred, and there is no further constitutionally protectable privacy interest. Forensic examination merely converts the thing that the police have lawfully seized into information of evidentiary value. Moreover, blood is not a "place" that can be "searched"; rather, it is a "thing" that can be "seized." Compare U.S. CONST. amend. IV ("[N]o warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized."). Indeed, taken as a whole, search and seizure law is concerned with the seizure of objects, not with information that can be obtained from those objects. Goldfoot, supra, at 154.

Further, blood is a substance whose evidentiary value lies in its components. It has no probative value in itself. Rather, it must be examined for its evidentiary value to be understood. See, e.g., Ex. 20; CP 97 (affidavit in support of search warrant explaining that Martines's blood, "if extracted within a reasonable period of time after he/she last operated, or was in physical control of, a motor vehicle, may be tested to determine his/her current blood alcohol level and to detect the presence of any drugs that may have impaired his/her ability to drive."). Thus, it makes no sense to authorize the taking of blood or a similar biological sample without the implied authorization to conduct forensic testing upon it.

Finally, as suggested above, the implications of Martines's argument are far reaching. If judicial authorization is required to test blood for alcohol or drugs, even once that blood is lawfully in police custody, there is no principled reason to conclude it would not be needed for a host of other forensic testing as well: to test controlled substances seized from a car during an inventory search; to testfire a handgun to determine its operability or to determine whether bullet casings at the scene of a shooting were fired from the same gun, even though the gun was seized pursuant to a warrant; to analyze fingerprints left at a crime scene or DNA left on a discarded cigarette; to translate writings from a

foreign language into English, or perhaps even to read writings that are in English, even though the documents were lawfully seized in a search incident to arrest. Such an additional warrant would not serve to protect any reasonable privacy interests. Rather, it would be an empty formality as well as a trap for the unwary. This Court should not invent such a requirement in the absence of any authority supporting it.

Perhaps in recognition that the weight of authority is against him, Martines attempts to characterize his argument as an attack on the particularity of the warrant. But the warrant here was quite particular. After finding that “there is probable cause to believe that . . . evidence of the crime(s) of: Driving While under the Influence, RCW 46.61.502 is concealed in, about or upon the person of Martines, Jose Figueroa,” the warrant authorizes the seizure of a single, specific, particular thing: “a sample of blood, consisting of one or more tubes, from the person of Martines, Jose Figueroa, within 4 hours” and by a properly trained technician. Ex. 20; CP 100-01. The warrant was so particular that there was no danger of Trooper Tardiff conducting a general search, mistakenly seizing anything but Martines’s blood, or obtaining a warrant on a vague or doubtful basis of fact. See Perrone, 119 Wn.2d at 545. Martines’s mischaracterization of the forensic examination of his blood as running afoul of the particularity requirement should be rejected.

In short, a search warrant for a blood sample, based on probable cause, was all that was required here. Once Trooper Tardiff had lawfully obtained Martines's blood, his expectation of privacy in it was extinguished, and further forensic examination required no judicial authorization. The trial court properly denied Martines's motion to suppress the results of the forensic examination of his blood.

**2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO ENTER WRITTEN FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, BECAUSE WRITTEN FINDINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED BY CrR 3.6 IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.**

Martines argues that this Court should reverse his conviction because the trial court failed to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law after denying his motion to suppress evidence pursuant to CrR 3.6. But the rule does not require written findings and conclusions where, as here, no evidentiary hearing was conducted. Martines's argument should be rejected.

Criminal Rule 3.6 governs the procedures to be followed when a court entertains a motion to suppress evidence. The portion of the rule that Martines relies on reads, in its entirety: "If an evidentiary hearing is conducted, at its conclusion the court shall enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law." CrR 3.6(b) (emphasis added). Martines claims that the failure to follow this rule requires reversal.



However, the trial court did not err in failing to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law, because no evidentiary hearing was held; instead, the parties just presented oral argument. 1RP 30-41. An evidentiary hearing is a condition precedent for the requirement of entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CrR 3.6(b). In the absence of such a hearing, the trial court did not err in failing to enter written findings and conclusions.

Martines cites State v. Emery, 161 Wn. App. 172, 201-02, 253 P.3d 413 (2011), aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 741 (2012), for the proposition that the trial court erred by failing to make any findings regarding the existence or absence of facts to support probable cause. But here, there was no factual dispute to be settled by an evidentiary hearing. Rather, the CrR 3.6 issue that Martines raised below centered on the failure of the search warrant affidavit to establish probable cause to test his blood for drugs, and the related question of whether a warrant is required in order to test blood, as opposed to merely seize it. CP 7-12. These are legal questions, which are reviewed de novo. State v. Chamberlin, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). Moreover, whether an affidavit establishes probable cause is determined by the four corners of the warrant. State v. Neth, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). As there were no facts in dispute relevant

to Martines's suppression motion, the trial court did not err in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing or make findings of fact.

Further, even if written findings of fact and conclusions of law were required, any trial court error in failing to enter them is harmless if the oral findings and conclusions are sufficient to permit appellate review. State v. Miller, 92 Wn. App. 693, 703, 964 P.2d 1196 (1998). Here, the trial court provided a detailed explanation for its ruling that is adequate for appellate review. 1RP 52-55. Moreover, as the court's ruling is subject to de novo review, Chamberlin, 161 Wn.2d at 40, written conclusions of law here are particularly unnecessary.

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